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11. Global Shipping Company 1 is a company based in the
United Arab Emirates (UAE) that exported goods from the United
States to the UAE on behalf of defendants ARASH JAM, AMIN JAM,
and MOMENI. |

12. Global Shipping Company 2 is a company based in the
United States that réfused to éxport goods to Iran on behalf‘of
defendants ARASH JAM, AMIN JAM, and MOMENTI.

13. Global Shi]_bping Company 3 is a company based iﬁ Norway
that assisted defendants ARASH JAM, AMIN JAM, and MOMENI with
exporting goods from the United States to the UAE, and then
reexporting those goods from the UAE to Iran.

14. US Shipping‘ Company 1 is a company based in the United |
States that exported goods from the United States to the UAE on béhalf
of defendants ARASH JAM, AMIN JAM, and MOMENL |

15.  US Shipping Company 2 is a company based in the United
States that exported goods from the United States to the UAE on behalf

of defendénts ARASH JAM, AMIN JAM, and MOMENI.
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Manner and Means of the Conspiracy
26. The manner and means by which the defendants and their
coconspirators sought to accomplish these objects of the conspiracy
mclude, among others, the following:

a. The defendants and their coconspirators planned and
acted outside of the United States to acquire goods;

b.  The defendants and their coconspirators ﬁsed email to
communicate with one another and with other individuals, including
individuals located in the United States, Canada, and Iran;

c. The defendants and their coconspirators purchased
goods from companies in the United States for ultimate shipment to
Iran; |

d. The defendants and the coconspirators used third
parties to arrange for payment of the goods, in United States currency;

e.  The defendants and their coconspirators intentionally
concealed from companies located in the United States, specifically the
US Companies and US Shipping Comvpanies'l and 2, the true nature of

the ultimate end use}and true identities of the ultimate end users of the
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goods, by providing false and misleading information about the ultimate
end use and end users; and

f. The defendants and their coconspirators caused the
goods to be exported from the United States to individuals and entities
located in Iran through the UAE, without obtaining any license from
OFAC.

Overt Acts

27. In furtherance of the above-described conspiracy, and in
order to carry out the object thereof, the defendants and others known
and unknown to the Grand Jury committed or caused to be committed,
in the Eastern District of Michigan and elsewhere, at least one of the
following overt acts, among others:

May 22, 2015 export of nine electrical discharge boards intended for Iran
[US Company 1, purchase 1; Global Shipping Company 1]

28. On or about January 9, 2015, ARASH JAM emailed US
Company 1 with a price request for nine electrical discharge boards.
ARASH JAM stated that he was in Toronto, but that the boards were
going to a company in the UAE. On or about that same day, US
Company 1 sent a price quote for the items back to ARASH JAM, which

ARASH JAM forwarded to MOMENI. ARASH JAM forwarded the price

11
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duote from US Company 1 to MOMENI a second time on or about
January 14, 2015. |

29. | On or about January 20, 2015,'MOMENI responded to
ARASH JAM and attached the price quote from US Company 1 elong |
with two additional documents that appear to be written in Farsi also

| showing price quotes. MOMENI told ARASH JAM_that the prices US
Company 1 quoted varied for several of the items.

30. On or about January 24, 2015, and again on or about
February 17, 2015, US Company 1 asked ARASH JAM for the model
and serial number of the machine for which ARASH JAM was
requesting parts. ARASH JAM forwarded the first email to MOMENL.
ARASH JAM responded to US Company 1's February?17 , 2015, email
by stating that the model was a WIRE-CUT KE 600, but that he did not
have the serial number. The WIRE-CUT KE 600 model EDM machine

. was manufactured by Spanish Company 1. | |
31. On or about Febfuary 19, 2015, US Company 1 sent ARASH
JAM an updated price quote, which ARASH JAM forwarded to |

MOMENI. MOMENI responded in Farsi stating, “God bless you, you

12
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March 25, 2015, ARASH JAM emailed UK Company agéin, stating that
the _pai'ts requested were for a 2004, rhodel KE 600 machine, with seﬁal
number 10853. (A month earliei“, US Company 1 had asked ARASH
JAM fovr the EDM machine’s serial number and he had responded that
he did ﬁot have it.) On or about the same day that ARASH JAM
provided UK Company with the» machine’s serial number, UK Company
told ARASH JAM that, “Unfortunately, I . . . was told that the machine -
is in a prohibited Country. Therefore, we will not send a [price]
quotation to you.” (emphas.is_ 1n original).

34.  ARASH JAM, AMIN JAM, and MOMENT later confirmed
that the EDM machine was located in Iran:

a. On or about October 6, 2016, ARASH JAM sent AMIN
JAM a draft email that stated that they needed additional
parts for a 2004, model KE 600 machine located in
Tehran, Iran. In that draft email, ARASH JAM stated

~ that the serial number for that machine was 10853.

i. On or about October 6, 2016, AMIN JAM sent the
draft email referenced in paragraph 34a to Spanish
Company 1, admitting that the machine in question
was in Iran.

ii. On or about October 7, 2016, ARASH JAM sent the
draft email in paragraph 34a to US Company 1,
again admitting that the machine in question was in

~ Iran. | |

14
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boards. On or about May 9, 2015, ARASH JAM responded that he
would ask his UAE colleagues‘ to send that information. On or about
May 11, US Company 1 emailed again, telling ARASH JAM that it
needed the machine model and serial number quickly. Two months
prior, in March 2015, ARASH JAM told UK Company that the
machine’s serial number was 10853.

41. Onor about May 11, 2015, ARASH JAM emailed Spanish
Company 2 asking to place an offer to buy a WIRE-CUT KE 600 model
EDM machine that he saw advertised on Spanish Company 2’s website.
ARASH JAM stated that the machine was for a company in the UAE,
and specifically asked for the year of the machine and the serial
number.

42. On or about May 12, 2015, Spanish Company 2 responded to
ARASH JAM, providing a document about the machine for sale,
including pictures. Spanish Company 2 stated that the machine it was
selling was a 2004 model with serial number 10.744. Also on or about
that same day, ARASH JAM forwarded the information from Spénish
Company 2 to MOMENI; AMIN JAM also obtained this information

from Spanish Company 2. With this information in hand, on or about
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that same day, May 12, 2015, ARASH JAM émailed US Company 1,
stating that the. machine for Which he had ordered the parts was a
2004, model KE 600 machine, with serial number 10.744—the same
serial number that he had obtainéd from Spanish Corﬁpany 2 for the
- machine that_it was advertising for sale in Spain.

43.  On or about May 12, 2015, US Company 1 responded_to
ARASH JAM’s email, asking from whom he bbught the machine and-
where it was currently located. On or about that same day, ARASH
JAM responded, stating that the machine was currently in RAK [Ras al
Khaimah], UAE. |

44.  On or about May 12, 2015, US Company 1 responded to
ARASH JAM, stating that “Spain is fhinking these parts are being sent
to Iran. We ai‘e not a loud [sic] to sell to anyone in Iran or that is going
to sell the parts to someone in Iran. Spain has receive‘d this exact same
order from‘other dealers in other countries and they found out that
t'h'ese boards were going to be sold to Iran.” On or about the next day,'

- ARASH JAM forwarded the email frém US Company 1 to MOMENI.
45.  On or about May 13, 2015, ARASH JAM emailed US.

Company 1 and stated for a second time that the machine was in Ras al

18
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July 80, 2015 export of one CPU bbard intended for Iran
[US Company 1, purchase 2; Global Shipping Company 1]

| 49. On or about May 5, 2015, ARASH JAM emailed US
Company 1, stating that he needed an additional part, and provided the
part number; On or about May 6, 2015, US C(')mp.a‘ny 1 provided a price
quote for the new part—a CPU board—to ARASH JAM. On or about
that same day, ARASH JAM forwarded the price quote to MOMENI.
50. On or about May 7, 2015, in discussing the requested part
with ARASH JAM, US Company 1 explained that the part was
expensive because it was the “brains” of the EDM machine. US
Company 1 again told ARASH JAM that it needed the machine model
and serial gumber to load the corfect software onto the CPU board. On
or about this same day, ARASH JAM forwarded this email to MOMENI.
| On or about May 12; 2015, ARASH JAM emailed US Company 1,
stating} that the machine for which he had ordered the parts Wés a‘
2004, model KE 600 machine, with serial number 10.744. |
51. On or about May 13, 2015, US Company 1 sent a new, lower |
price quote. for the CPU board to ARASH JAM. On or about May 14,

2015, ARASH JAM forwarded the new quote to MOMENI. On or about
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the same day, MOMENI responded to ARASH JAM in Farsi and told
him to try to get a lower price.

52. On or about June 23, 2015, US Company 1 sent ARASH
JAM a final, lower price quote. On or about that same day, ARASH
JAM forwarded that quote to MOMENI.

53. On or about June 24, 2014, ARASH JAM resent US
Company 1’s bank account information to MOMENI.

54. Bank records confirm that on or about June 29, 2015, a bank
in the UAE wired funds to US Company 1 for the CPU board. On or
aboﬁt June 30, 2015, ARASH JAM sent a wire payment confirmation to
US Company 1. AMIN JAM also obtained a copy of this wire payment
confirmation. On or about July 2, 2015, US Company 1 confirmed
payment.

55.  On or about July 22, 2015, US Company 1 sent ARASH JAM
a packing slip for the} CPU board, which ARASH JAM forwarded to
MOMENI on or about July 25, 2015.

56. On or about July 22, 2015, ARASH JAM contacted Global
Shipping Company 1 for a quote to transport the CPU board from the

Eastern District of Michigan to the UAE. On or about July 27, 2015,
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Global Shipping Company 1 confirmed thé shipment. On or about that
same day, ARASH JAM forwarded this conﬁrmation to MOMENI.

57.. On or about July 30’ 2015, Global .Shipping Company 1 sent
one CPU board from the United States to the UAE, with an ultiﬁate
destination of Iran. | |

58. On or about February 17, 2016, ARASH JAM contacted US
Cdmpany 1 to complain that the CPU board was not working pfoperly.
US Company 1 again asked ARASH JAM for the EDM machine’s serial
number and on or about March 7, 2016, he résponded that the serial
number was 10744 (the same serial number of the machine that
Spanish Comp'any 2 had advertised for sale in May 2015). On or about
that same day, US Company 1 told ARASH JAM that the EDM
machine with that seriai number was located in Romania and that if
the CPU board that ARASH JAM purchased was programmed for the
Wrong machine, it would not function properly. US Company 1 told
ARASH JAM thét it coﬁld nbt help him any further without the correct

model and serial number.
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the revised packing slip to MOMENI. On or about September 15, 2015,
ARASH JAM forwarded the revised packing slip to AMIN JAM.

62. Oh or about September 15, 2015, AMIN JAM sent US

* Company 2’s packing slip to two freight companies located in Iran. On

or about that same day, one of the Iranian freight companies asked
AMIN JAM for the “HS eede” for the ship'nient. An “HS code” is a
Harmonized Commodity Description and Coding System Code that 18
used in international shipping.

- 63.  On or about September 15., 2015, ARASH JAM asked US

Company 2 for the HS code of the servo motors shipment. US Company

2 responded to the email and provided the HS code on or about
September 16, 2015. On or about that same day, ARASH JAM
forwarded US Company 2’s response to AMIN JAM.

64. On or about September 16, 2015, AMIN JAM provided US
Company 2’s packing slip to an Iranian cargo and courier company
1oeated in Tehran, Iran.

65. On September 17, 2015, AMIN JAM emailed Global
Shipping Company 2, located in the United States,l and asked about

shipping “electro motors” to Iran. On or about that same day, Global
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Shipping Company 2 asked for US Company 2’s name and address. On
or about that same day, AMIN JAM sent the packing slip from US
Company 2 to Global Shipping Company 2.

66. On or about September 17, 2015, Global Shipping Company
2 emailed AMIN JAM and told him that the packing slip showed a final
destination of Dubai, and then asked for the shipping destination. On or
about that same day, AMIN JAM responded “This is addressed to our
company in Dubai... But final destination will be IKA (Imam Khomeini
Airport).” Imam Khomeini Airport is in Tehran, Iran. On or about that
same day, Global Shipping Company 2 responded to AMIN JAM,
stating that they could ship the cargo to IKA in Iran, but that the
“Shipper must provide copy of the OFAC license.” On or about that
same day, AMIN JAM responded “Alright. I will ask shipper to prévide
that.”

67. On or about September 17, 2015, AMIN JAM asked Global
Shipping Company 2 for a quote to send the motors by sea. On or about
that same day, Global Shipping Company 2 asked AMIN JAM what the
final destination sea port would be, and AMIN JAM responded BND

(Bandar Abbas, a port in Iran). On or about that same day, Global

25
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Shipping Company 2’s email to ARASH JAM, stating that the consignee

~ (the person receiving the goods) was MOMENI.

69. On or about October 13, 2015, Global Shipping Combany 2
emailed AMIN JAM and ARASH JAM and asked them if they “have a
license for this electromotor? I can’t ship it if you do not have a license.”
On or about that same day, AMIN JAM responded, copying ARASH
JAM, telling Global Shipping Company 2 that “neither me nor my
shipper can arrange for this license.” AMIN JAM then asked whether
“there 1s a way without it.” On or about that same day, Global Shipping
Company 2 responded to AMIN JAM and ARASH JAM that there was
“No way around it. I can’t ship it.” On or about that same day, AMIN
JAM pressed Global Shipping Company 2, asking if it could take the
item in a partial container load (also referred to as a less-than-container
load or “LLCL”).2 AMIN JAM also asked if other freight companies could
fulfill the shipment. On or about that same day, Global Shipping

Company 2’s employee with whom they had been corresponding

2 An LCL is a form of ocean cargo shipping where a shipper shares the
space of a container with other shippers. In contrast, a full container
load (or FCL) is a form of shipping where a single shipper owns all of
the goods held in a container.
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| responded to AMIN JAM and ARASH JAM, stating that he would lose
his job and that his company would get fined if it shipped these goods
without a license. On or about that same day, AMIN JAM asked Global
~ Shipping Compény 2 1f it could “put Jebel Ali Pbrt [in the UAE] as POD
[port of discharge] and then switch BL [bill of lading].” On or about that
same day, Global Shipping Company 2 responded to AMIN JAM and -
ARASH JAM, stating “I can’t do that knowing this is to IRAN. You
know there is still sanction.”‘ On or about that same day, AMIN JAM
asked Global Shipping Company 2 to direct him to another forwarding
agent who could ship fhese goods. On or about that same day, Global
Shipping Company 2 responded to AMIN JAM and ARASH JAM,
stating “I dori’f know any forwarder that will risk it. U[S] customs can
shut them down with big fines.’f
70. On or about October 14, 2015, AMIN JAM sent the packing

slip fromv US Company 2 to three different shipping companies in Iran.
On or about October 15, 2015, one of the Iranian shipping companies
emailed AMIN JAM and provided a quote to ship the electro motors
from the United States to Iran. Specifically, the s_hipment would go from

the United States to port Jebel Ali in the UAE, be cross-stuffed in the
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UAE (removed from one shipping container and placed in a new
shipping container), and then reexported from Jebel Ali and sent to
Bandar Abbas, Iran. On or about that same day, AMIN JAM forwarded
the quote to ARASH JAM.

71.  On or about October 21, 2015, AMIN JAM emailed the
Iranian shipping company and confirmed shipment “to Bandar Abbas”
in [ran. AMIN JAM instructed the Iranian shipping company to proceed
with picking up the shipment. On or about that same day, the Iranian
shipping company responded to AMIN JAM and stated that US
Shipping Company 1 would handle the shipment from the United
States to the UAE, and asked AMIN JAM to introduce US Shibping
Company 1 to the seller (US Company 2). The Iranian shipping
company also told AMIN JAM that its trading company in the UAE was
Global Shippihg Company 3, and that US Company 2 should “issue the
packing list, invoice & certificate of origin” to Global Shipping Company
3. On or about the next day, AMIN JAM forwarded this information to
ARASH JAM. |

72.  On or about October 22, 2015, ARASH JAM emailed US

Company 2 and stated that US Shipping Company 1 would arrange for
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the pickup of the two servo motors. ARASH JAM also told US Cpmpany
2 that it should issue “the packing list, invoice & certificate of origin” to
Global Shipping Company 3, as per the Iranian shipping company’s

~ guidance and instructions. - |

73. Onor 'a.bout October 27, 2015, US Company 2 provided the
packing list and invoice td ARASH JAM and AMIN JAM.

74. On November 1, 2015, the Iranian shipping company
eméﬂed AMIN JAM stating that the cargo would leave New York in the
United States on approximately November 14, and arrive in Jebel Ali in
the UAE on approximately December 12. The sﬁbject of the email
included “LCL ex USA to Bandar Abbas VIA Jebel AL.”

75. - On or about November 4, 2015, US Shipping Company 1
delivered the two servo motors to a port in New' York.

76. On or about November 14, 2015, US Shipping Company 1
sent two servo métors from the United States to the UAE, with én
_ultimaté destination of Iran.

77. On or about December 12, 2015, the Iranian shipping
company emailed AMIN JAM and told him that the cargo arrived at

port Jebel Ali in the UAE.
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that same day, AMIN JAM confirmed that information with the Iranian
shipping company.
82. On or about January 25, 2016, AMIN JAM emailed the

Iranian shipping company in Farsi and asked that the company give the -

bill of lading to MOMENI.

February 25, 2017 export of two railroad crankshafts to Iran
[US Company 3; Global Shipping Company 3; US Shipping Company 2]

83. On or about July 10, 2016, ARASH JAM emailed a Croatian
railroad parts company to request a pricé quote for several railroad
parts. ARASH JAM told the company that he was purchasing the parts

for the “ministry of transportation in Iraq.” ARASH JAM copied

~ MOMENI on the email. On or about July 12, 2016, a US railway parts

company emailed ARASH JAM and told him that it had received a
referral for the requested parts from the Croatian company. The US
company asked for the final destination of the barts. On or about the
same day, ARASH JAM stated to the US railway parts company that
the parts would be shipped through the UAE to Iraq. On or about the
same day, the US company responded to ARASH JAM, stating “OK... I

hope that this is not for Iran....”
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place in the United States from and through a place outside the United
States, that is the UAE, Uganda, Canada, Hong Kong, Turkey, and
Iran, with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful
activity, to wit, offenses relating to IEEPA, 50 U.S.C. § 1705, and 18
U.S.C. § 554.

113. All of which constitutes a violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Sections 1956(a)(2)(A), (c)(7)(B)(v)(II), and (h).

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
Title 18, United States Code, Sections 981(a)(1)(C), 982(a)(1) and
Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c)

114. Upon conviction of a specified unlawful activity, including
Title 50, United States Code, Section 1705 or Title 18, United States
Code, Section 554, or a conspiracy to commit a specified unlawful
activity, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371, the
defendants shall forfeit to the United States any propefty, real or
personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to
these violations, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section

981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).
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incorporated by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b)(1); and

Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c).

Dated: November 04, 2020

THIS IS A TRUE BILL.

s/ Grand Jury Foreperson
Grand Jury Foreperson

Matthew Schneider
United States Attorney

Michael C. Martin
Chief, National Security Unit

s/ Hank Moon

Hank Moon

Assistant United States Attorney
211 W. Fort St., Suite 2001
Detroit, MI 48226-3220

(313) 226-0220
Hank.Moon@usdoj.gov

Bar No: DC 1026010
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